1949

# Harry W. Kirchgestner v. The Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad Company : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

**PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

The parties will be designated as they appeared in the trial court. The record pages referred to are stenciled in the lower right-hand corner of the page. The action in which the appeal is taken was brought to recover damages for

personal injuries and was predicated upon a violation of the Federal Employer's Act (Title 45, Section 51, Et. Seq. U. S. C. A.) and also upon the Safety Appliance Act (Title 45, Section 4, U. S. C. A.). The trial court submitted to the jury only the issues arising under the Safety Appliance Act.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff was awarded a verdict in the amount of Four Thousand Three Hundred Dollars (\$4,300.00), upon which the judgment appealed from was entered in the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County. At the time of the accident and injuries complained of, plaintiff was employed by the defendant as a brakeman on its Narrow Gauge Railroad extending from Salida to Monarch in Colorado. He alleged and testified that the grab iron on the side of an ore car gave way as he grasped it in mounting the car then in motion. According to his testimony, he fell from the car and rolled down the mountain about twenty-five feet, striking his back against a large boulder (R. 100-101). Although the train was moving at a rate of speed of two miles per hour (R. 102) and the car from which he claims to have fallen was next to the engine, plaintiff was able to ascend the mountain and recover a position on the engine (R. 135). Throughout this dramatic accident, plaintiff never relaxed his grasp on the detached grab-iron. The alleged accident occurred about 8:30 P. M., June 26, 1948. Plaintiff continued to perform his duties as a brakeman until the train returned to Salida and his shift ended about 11:00 P. M. (R. 141-142). Immediately thereafter the

plaintiff contacted a Mr. Bennett, the local representative at Salida of the labor union to which plaintiff belonged and was advised by Bennett that he had a good lawsuit against the railroad (R. 137). Within a day or two after the accident, plaintiff went to the hospital at Salida, Colorado, maintained by the employees of the defendant, and consulted a Dr. Smith (R. 104). Plaintiff says that Dr. Smith prescribed some pills for the nerves (R. 104). He returned again to the hospital and some X-ray pictures were taken of his back (R. 104). The X-rays are marked Exhibits "3" and "4". On July 6th plaintiff went to Pueblo, Colorado, and contacted Mr. Sayger, a claim agent of the defendant (R. 107). He there negotiated a settlement of any cause of action arising out of the alleged accident of June 26th, received from the defendant \$135.00 and executed a general release (R. 160). This release is "Exhibit "2". He returned to work July 22nd and worked two days in that month, (Exhibit "C"). He worked eight days in August, eighteen days in September, four days in October and five days in November (Exhibit "C"). He was discharged early in December on account of reduction in force (R. 129).

This action was commenced October 16, 1948 (R. 6) and prior to the plaintiff's discharge. He claims to have sustained an injury to his back as a result of a fall from the train (R. 1-5). He further claims that this back injury activated and aggravated "a latent osteo-arthritic condition of the back, hips, lumbar and sacroiliac joints" (R. 3).

At the conclusion of the evidence, the defendant interposed a motion for a directed verdict in its favor upon the ground that the plaintiff had compromised and settled the



cause of action sued upon and that the release precluded the defendant from maintaining the action (R. 186-189). The motion was denied (R. 189).

### STATEMENT OF ERRORS RELIED ON

1. The trial court erred in refusing to direct the jury to return a verdict in favor of the defendant and against the plaintiff of no cause of action (R. 186-189).

2. The trial court erred in refusing to give defendant's Requested Instruction No. 2 as requested and in modifying said instruction by striking the words "clear and unequivocal evidence" and inserting in place thereof the words "a preponderance of the evidence" (R. 34).

3. The trial court erred in instructing the jury as set forth in Instruction No. 10 for the reason that it is not within the issues raised by the pleadings and there is no evidence to which it could be applied (R. 203).

4. The trial court erred in instructing the jury as set forth in Instruction No. 8 because it permitted the jury to assess damages for future suffering that might probably be endured (R. 202-203).

5. The court erred in permitting the plaintiff to testify to statements made to him by Dr. Hines for the reason that the statements were hearsay (R. 115).

6. The trial court erred in permitting the plaintiff to testify to statements made to him by Mr. Merrill for the reason that the same are hearsay (R. 106).

7. The trial court erred in permitting the plaintiff to testify concerning a release for the reason that the same is a conclusion (R. 106-107).

## ARGUMENT

1. NO FACTS ARE ALLEGED OR ESTABLISHED BY EVIDENCE THAT WOULD JUSTIFY AN AVOIDANCE OF THE RELEASE (ERROR No. 1).

For convenience we set forth below the exact language of the release upon which the defendant relies, omitting the heading and signatures:

"IN SOLE CONSIDERATION OF the payment to me by THE DENVER AND RIO GRANDE WESTERN RAILROAD COMPANY of the sum of One Hundred Thirty-Five and No/100 Dollars (\$135.00), receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, I do hereby release and forever discharge said THE DENVER AND RIO GRANDE WESTERN RAILROAD COMPANY, from all claims and causes of action which I now have or may hereafter have or claim on account of any and all personal injuries, whether now known or apparent or unknown or not now apparent, including complications arising from such personal injuries, or the treatment thereof, for loss of services, and for loss of or damages to property, growing out of or resulting from an accident which occurred at or near Monarch, State of Colorado, on or about the 26th day of June, 1948, while I was employed as Brakeman; and I hereby acknowledge full payment, satisfaction and discharge of any and all such claims or causes of action, and fully understand that I can make no further claim against said Railroad Company even though said

injuries are more serious or different than I now know or understand them to be.

"I agree that the above stated amount is the sole and only consideration for this settlement and that no promise or contract, either of employment or of any other nature, on the part of said Railroad Company has been made to me.

"I have read the foregoing release and fully understand the same."

We also for convenience quote the plaintiff's reply, seeking the avoidance of the release, omitting only formal parts:

"Admits the truth of paragraph 2 of said amended answer; in answer to paragraph 4 plaintiff alleges that the \$135.00 which was paid to him by the defendant on the 6th day of July, 1948, was intended by both plaintiff and defendant to settle only the claim which plaintiff had at that time against the defendant for lost wages, suffered as a result of his injury; that at the time of the signing of the release, which defendant required plaintiff to execute before defendant would pay plaintiff his lost wages, plaintiff and defendant both believed that the plaintiff had not suffered any serious personal injury and that plaintiff had completely recovered from the effects of his fall from defendant's train, which said fall is accurately and completely described in plaintiff's complaint on file herein; plaintiff further alleges that contrary to the beliefs of plaintiff and defendant, plaintiff had suffered a serious and crippling personal injury which became evident to plaintiff soon after the signing of said release and continues to the present time, which said injury is described in plaintiff's complaint on file herein."

"WHEREFORE, plaintiff prays that he be granted relief against defendant in accordance with the prayer of his complaint on file herein."

We shall assume but not admit that the validity of a release of a cause of action arising under the Federal Employers' Liability Act or the Federal Safety Appliance Act is controlled by the law as declared by the courts of the United States. In *Callen v. Pennsylvania Railroad Company*, 332 U. S. 625, 68 S. Ct. 296, the Supreme Court of the United States held that a release of a cause of action arising under the Federal Employers' Liability Act stood upon the same footing as a release of any other cause of action. There is therefore no federal law peculiar to the release of a cause of action under the Federal Employers' Liability Act to be considered in this case.

It is the contention of the defendant that the plaintiff failed to either allege or produce any evidence of facts sufficient under federal law to warrant a jury or court to nullify the release.

We have set forth above, the pleading under which the plaintiff seeks to avoid the settlement and release of the cause of action sued upon. It is to be noted at the outset of an examination of the plaintiff's reply that he admits by failing to deny that he executed a written release which by its terms discharged the cause of action sued upon. Accordingly no legal effect can be given to the allegation that the \$135.00 payment made to the plaintiff on the date of the release was intended by both plaintiff and defendant to settle only the claim which plaintiff had at that time against the defendant for lost wages suffered as a result of his

injury. What the parties intended to accomplish by the payment must be ascertained solely from the language of the written release. See: *In re: Atwater*, 296 F. 278, affirmed 254 U. S. 423, 41 S. Ct. 150, 65 L. Ed. 339; *St. L. & S. F. Ry. Co. v. Dearborn*, 60 F. 880.

No claim is made by plaintiff in his reply that he was induced to execute the release by any misrepresentation of fact by the defendant or by any coercion or undue influence exerted by the defendant or anyone else. In this state of the pleadings the only inquiry left open is whether the allegations in the reply set forth a mutual mistake of fact which would justify a rescission of the release. The allegations of mutual mistake are simply that the parties believed that the plaintiff had not suffered any serious injury but had completely recovered from the effects of the fall from the train, and that contrary to this belief the plaintiff had suffered a serious injury which later became manifest and continues to the present time.

These allegations are insufficient as a foundation for nullification of the release. They do not disclose any mutual mistake of an existing or past fact. The only mutual mistake of the parties alleged concerns their beliefs or opinions with respect to the future consequences of the injury sustained in the accident. This is not enough.

The leading case in the Federal Courts establishing the conditions precedent to the right to avoid a release upon the ground of mutual mistake of fact is *Chicago & N. W. Ry. Co. v. Wilcox*, 116 Fed. 913. In that case Mrs. Wilcox sustained a fractured femur as a result of a fall while

riding as a passenger upon one of the defendant's trains. She settled her claim for \$600 and gave the railroad a general release. The claim agent of the railroad who effected the settlement informed the plaintiff that her injuries were temporary and that she would recover from them in about a year. She testified that she believed the claim agent and relied upon his assurance in making the settlement. It developed that her injuries were permanent and in her action against the railroad she sought to avoid her release upon the ground that it was predicated upon a mutual mistake of fact. The court held that the release was binding. The question whether a general release could be avoided upon the ground of the mutually mistaken beliefs of the parties as to the future effect of a known injury was answered in the negative. The court said:

“Again, it is not every mistake that will lay the foundation for the rescission of an agreement. That foundation can be laid only by a mistake of a past or present fact material to the agreement. Such an effect cannot be produced by a mistake in prophecy or in opinion, or by a mistake in belief relative to an uncertain future event. A mistake as to the future unknowable effect of existing facts, a mistake as to the future uncertain duration of a known condition, or a mistake as to the future effect of a personal injury, cannot have this effect, because these future happenings are not facts, and in the nature of things are not capable of exact knowledge; and everyone who contracts in reliance upon opinions or beliefs concerning them knows that these opinions and beliefs are conjectural, and makes his agreement in view of the well-known fact that they may turn out to be mistaken, and assumes the chances that they will do so. Hence, where parties have knowingly and

purposely made an agreement to compromise and settle a doubtful claim, whose character and extent are necessarily conditioned by future contingent events, it is no ground for the avoidance of the contract that the events happen very differently from the expectation, opinion, or belief of one or both of the parties." (Citing numerous cases.)

There has been no departure by the federal courts from the proposition announced in the above quotation from the *Wilcox* case. There has been some criticism of the dictum that a statement of a doctor to the effect that a patient will fully recover in a certain time is not a statement of a present fact. What was actually decided, however, in the *Wilcox* case has been followed without dissent. See *Wilson v. Sands*, 231 F. 921; *McGovern v. McClintock-Marshall Co.*, 269 F. 911; *Denver & S. L. Ry. Co. v. Moffat Tunnel Improvement Dist.*, 35 F. (2d) 365; *United States v. Golden*, 34 F. (2d) 367; *United States v. Garland*, 122 F. (2d) 118; *Pacific Mutual Life Insurance Co. of California v. Jacob*, 87 F. (2d) 870.

The reply was fatally defective for the additional reason that it contained no allegation that the release was predicated upon the alleged mistaken beliefs. It must be concluded from the omission of such an essential allegation that the mistaken beliefs of the parties played no part in the formation of the contract embodied in the release. In other words, the release would have been executed and delivered had the parties known that their beliefs were erroneous. The authorities are agreed that a mutual mistake of fact is without legal significance unless the contract would

not have been entered into if the parties had known the true facts.

As pointed out by the Supreme Court of the United States in *Grymes v. Saunders*, 93 U. S. 55, 23 L. Ed. 798:

“A mistake as to a matter of fact, to warrant relief in equity, must be material, and the fact must be such that it animated and controlled the conduct of the party. It must go to the essence of the object in view, and not be merely incidental. The court must be satisfied, that but for the mistake the complainant would not have assumed the obligation from which he seeks to be relieved. *Kerr on Mistake and Fraud*, 408; *Trigg v. Read*, 5 Humph. 529; *Jennings v. Broughton*, 17 Beav. 541; *Thompson v. Jackson*, 3 Rand. 507; *Harrod's Heirs v. Cowan*, Hardin, 543; *Hill v. Bush*, 19 Barb. (Ark.) 522; *Jouzan v. Toulmin*, 9 Ala. 662.”

The final and fatal defect in the reply lies in the failure of the plaintiff to tender to the defendant the consideration paid by it for the release.

Whether a party seeking to avoid the release of a cause of action arising under a federal statute must tender the consideration paid to him is to be determined by the decisions of the United States courts. See *Ricketts v. Pennsylvania Railroad Co.*, 153 Fed. (2d) 757; *Callen v. Pennsylvania Railroad Co.*, 332 U. S. 625, 68 S. Ct. 296. Under federal law, tender of the consideration paid for a release is a condition precedent to avoidance of the release.

*Collett v. Louisville & N. R. Co.*, 81 Fed. Supp. 428; *Grymes v. Sanders*, 93 U. S. 55, 23 L. Ed. 798; *Lyons v.*



*Allen*, 11 App. D. C. 543; *Thornton v. Puget Sound Power & Light Co.*, 49 Fed. (2d) 347.

In the *Collett* case the plaintiff sued the defendant under the Federal Employers' Liability Act to recover damages for personal injuries. The defendant pleaded in defense a general release of the cause of action. The plaintiff obtained an order permitting him to reply to the answer. He alleged in the reply that the release was obtained by fraud. He omitted to allege any tender back of the consideration paid for the release. The defendant moved to strike the reply. The motion was granted upon the ground that the reply failed to tender back the consideration for the release. The court said:

"Since the substantive and procedural rights involved in an attack upon a contract of compromise and release in an Employers' Liability case are governed by the same general principles that apply to other contracts the general principle which requires the return of the fruits of the contract before it can be attacked for fraud is applicable also. *Vandervelden v. Chicago & N. W. Ry. Co.*, C. C., 61 F. 54; *Patterson v. Cincinnati, N. O. & T. P. Ry. Co.*, D. C., 5 F. Supp. 595, and cases there cited."

In *Thornton v. Puget Sound Power and Light Co.*, *supra*, the plaintiff brought suit under the Merchant and Marine Act to recover for the death of a seaman. The plaintiff also sought to set aside a general release, upon the ground that it had been obtained by fraud. No tender of the consideration paid was set forth in the complaint. The court held that the complaint did not state a cause of action. *Hill v. N. P. Ry. Co.*, 113 Fed. 914; *Price v. Connors*, 146 Fed. 503;

*Mahr v. Union Pacific Railroad Co.*, 170 Fed. 699; *Miles v. Lavender*, 10 Fed. (2d) 450; the *Thomas P. Beal*, 298 Fed. 121, were cited and relied upon as establishing the proposition that federal law requires a tender of the consideration paid as a condition precedent to the avoidance of a general release. An examination of the cited cases will demonstrate that they fully sustain the decision of the *Thornton* case.

Apart from the insufficiency of the pleadings, there was an entire failure of proof of any facts that impair in the least the validity of the release.

The circumstances surrounding the execution and delivery of the release are as related by the plaintiff that on July 6th, following the alleged accident, he went to Pueblo and contacted Mr. M. V. Sayger, a claim agent of the defendant (R. 180). He went in Mr. Sayger's office in the depot and after introducing himself said: "Well, Mr. Sayger, how about settling up with me?" "He said: (Well, let's see what we can do" (R. 181).) Mr. Sayger further said: "Well, that would figure you about \$125, wouldn't it? I said: "I will take \$135 and that was all there was to it" (R. 181).

Q. What did he (Mr. Sayger) say?

A. He said, "You drive a hard bargain."

Q. Was anything else said?

A. No sir. He wrote me out a check. I went and cashed it and went on to Denver.

Q. Was anything said concerning your going back to work?

A. No, not that I recall. He asked me how I felt. I said, "I feel like I could go back to work again." And he said, "Okeh" (R. 181).

Plaintiff further testified that he believed he could go back to work and felt that his injuries were over (R. 182).

Mr. Sayger testified that when plaintiff called at his office in Pueblo he knew nothing about plaintiff's injuries except that Dr. Fuller had reported to him that plaintiff was physically qualified to return to work (R. 161-162). He asked the plaintiff about his injuries and plaintiff said he felt he was able to return to work but wanted to go to Denver and then back to Salida where he would be ready to go to work (R. 163). Over the objection of the defendant, counsel for the plaintiff was permitted to ask the question: "And at that time you agreed to pay him \$13.50 a day for the ten days," to which question Mr. Sayger replied: "I used no formula to arrive at the amount of payment (R. 165). He further stated that he had no discussion with the plaintiff as to how much a day should be allowed and no mention was made of the sum of \$13.50 per day in the course of the conversation (R. 165).

Mr. Sayger didn't know anything about the plaintiff's belief except that plaintiff told him he was ready to go to work and wanted to settle his case (R. 167). Plaintiff remarked to Mr. Sayger that he had been contacted by one Bennett, a switchman at Salida, who had suggested to the plaintiff that he claim a back injury and bring a lawsuit against the railroad (R. 167).

The symptoms of any injury sustained by the plaintiff in the alleged accident of June 26th are wholly subjective,

except that Dr. White claims to have discovered a slight muscle spasm in the lower region of the back. There was no evidence of any bruise, abrasion, or other trauma. The record is silent concerning any torn or disheveled clothing. X-rays of the plaintiff's back, taken at Salida within two or three days after the alleged accident and those taken about the time the action was commenced, revealed no pathology that was in any way connected with the asserted fall from the train. He received no medical treatment except that Dr. Smith at the Salida Hospital recommended some pills for his nerves (R. 124).

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