1949

Harry W. Kirchgestner v. The Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Defendant by its answer pleaded a release for \$135.00 as a bar to plaintiff's action. Plaintiff in his reply alleged that the release had been entered into under a mutual mistake of the parties. Defendant has at no time until this present appeal raised the question of the sufficiency of the plaintiff's reply. Facts sufficient to avoid the release are therein alleged. Evidence relating to the execution of the release and the issues of mutual mistake were introduced in evidence without objection of either side. The matter was fully presented to the

court and jury. The defendant requested an instruction setting forth its views of the law relating to the avoidance of the release by mutual mistake (See Defendant's Requested Instruction No. 2, R. 34). This instruction was adopted by the Court and given as the Court's Instruction No. 6 (R. 39), and to which no exception was taken. The only change made was that relating to the degree of proof which forms the basis of defendant's second point in its brief, and which will be answered hereafter. The Court's Instruction No. 6, as requested by the defendant, with that one exception, is as follows (R. 39):

“No. 6

“It is admitted that the plaintiff in consideration of the sum of One Hundred Thirty-five Dollars (\$135.00) paid to him by the defendant executed and delivered to the defendant a written release by the terms of which the plaintiff released and discharged the defendant from all liability on account of the accident and injuries described in the plaintiff's complaint in this action. You are, therefore, instructed that the burden rests upon the plaintiff to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that this release was executed under the belief of both plaintiff and defendant that the plaintiff had recovered from the injuries sustained by him in said accident and that both he and the defendant were mistaken in such belief. Unless the plaintiff has sustained this burden your verdict must be in favor of the defendant.”

We submit that this instruction was a correct statement of the law in its application to the issues of this

case. We believe it conforms to the rule adopted by the Federal courts, a brief statement of which is found in the case of *Callen v. Pennsylvania Railroad Company*, 332 U. S. 625, 68 S. Ct. 296, wherein the Court states:

“* * * One who attacks a settlement must bear the burden of showing that the contract he has made is tainted with invalidity, either by fraud practiced upon him or by a mutual mistake under which both parties acted.”

See also *Scheer v. Rockne Motors Corp.*, 68 F. 2d 942; *Steele v. Erie R. Co.*, 54 F. 2d 688, 54 F. 2d 690 (Cert. den.) 285 U.S. 546.

There can be no dispute that this instruction constitutes the law of the case and certainly where defendant's request on the subject is given and no exception is taken to the giving of such instruction, defendant cannot now claim the law is different than that expressed in the instruction. We submit that under the testimony no other verdict could have been rendered on the issue of mutual mistake than a verdict in favor of plaintiff. If the release was executed under the belief of both plaintiff and defendant that the plaintiff had recovered from the injuries sustained and they both were mistaken in that belief, the release should then be set aside and the verdict is supported by the evidence.

Plaintiff does not claim that there was any fraud attached to the execution of this release but does claim that both parties on the 6th day of July believed that the plaintiff's injuries were such that he could return to

work at that time and that his injuries would no longer prevent him from discharging his duties as a brakeman. As indicated in the statement of facts, plaintiff was sent to Pueblo to see defendant's claim agent. He had at that time been off work for ten days. Plaintiff's own testimony on the occasion of the execution of this release is as follows (R. 181-82):

"A. I went in and introduced myself to Mr. Sayger, right in the Pueblo depot down where his office is.

Q. What did he say?

A. He said, 'I am glad to know you'. Acknowledged the introduction. And I said, 'Well, Mr. Sayger, how about settling up with me?'

He said, 'Well, let's see what we can do.'

So we figured up day for day.

MR. BAGLEY: Just a moment. Tell us how you figured, how you went about it. What was said, just as near as you can.

A. Well, the rate of pay, I believe, is twelve dollars and something a day. Twelve dollars and something a day. Twelve fifty-four, I believe it is, somewhere around there.

Mr. Sayger said, 'Well, that would figure you about \$125.00, wouldn't it?'

I said, 'I will take one hundred thirty-five.' And that was all there was to it.

Q. What did he say?

A. He said, 'You drive a hard bargain.'

Q. Was anything else said?

A. No sir. He wrote me out a check. I went and cashed it and went on to Denver.

Q. Was anything said concerning you going back to work

A. No, not that I recall. He asked me how I felt. I said, 'I feel like I could go back to work again'. And he said, 'Okeh'.

Q. Did you believe you could go back to work?

A. I did.

Q. Did you feel that your injuries were over?

A. I did.

Q. Is that the basis upon which you made that settlement?

A. That is right."

The defendant's Claim Agent, M. V. Sayger, testified that he had learned from the Trainmaster's office at Salida that plaintiff was coming to see him. In preparation for this visit he had called Dr. Fuller and in this connection Sayger testified (R. 161-62):

"Q. And had you received any information as to the extent of his injuries?

A. I knew nothing about his injuries, except I had asked the doctor, after I received word that he was coming, if he was physically qualified to return to work, and was informed that he was.

Q. When was it that you received this information?

A. In the forenoon.

Q. That he was coming?

A. Of the day he arrived.

Q. That would be the forenoon of the 6th of July?

A. That is right.

Q. And you called what Doctor?

A. Dr. Fuller.

Q. Dr. Fuller. And he is at the hospital where?

A. Salida.

Q. And you asked him concerning any injuries that Mr. Kirchgastner, that the plaintiff was suffering from?

A. No. I merely asked him if Mr. Kirchgastner was able to return to duty.

Q. And he told you that he was?

A. That is right."

Regarding the information which he had at the time of settlement, Sayger testified as follows (R. 162):

"Q. And then all the information you had before the plaintiff arrived, was that he was an individual who had been in some way entitled to some compensation from the railroad, and who was now in physical condition that he could return to work?

A. That is right."

Sayger knew that plaintiff was making the settlement under the belief that he was all right and ready to go to work. In this regard he testified (R. 163):

“Q. And he told you, at that time, that he was all over them, and everything was all right with him?

A. He said he felt he was able to return to work, but he wanted to go to Denver, then back to Salida, and he would be ready to go to work, his home being in Denver.

* * * * *

Q. Did you discuss his injuries with him?

A. Nothing any further than asked his condition, if he was able to return to work.

Q. He said he was all right?

A. He said he was all right.

Q. And ready to go to work?

A. That is right.”

We submit that the foregoing testimony is conclusive that both defendant's agent Sayger and the plaintiff made this settlement upon the belief that plaintiff's injuries were at an end and that he was able at that time to return to work. The evidence conclusively establishes that plaintiff continued to suffer from the injuries he had received on June 26th until the time of trial. The night before the date of trial plaintiff was examined by Dr. White (R. 76). The doctor found that plaintiff did have pain in the region of the lumbar sacral junction, both on pressure and movement (R. 77).

On cross-examination defendant's counsel attempted to get the doctor to testify that the doctor had relied entirely upon what the plaintiff told him in determining whether or not pain was present. The doctor, however, stated that from his examination he did not believe that plaintiff was faking pain, and testified that he found a muscle spasm in the area of the lumbar region of the back (R. 85). The doctor testified (R. 86):

“Q. But in the case of Mr. Kirchgastner, you couldn't tell whether that muscle spasm was voluntary or involuntary, could you?

A. Well, I would say that he impressed me, during his examination—

Q. All right.

A. As being very cooperative, and not trying to fool me, like some of them have tried in the past, which usually they don't. But he was cooperative, and I don't believe that he was putting on.

Q. He didn't have anything the matter with him, did he?

A. Oh, I wouldn't say that. He had some muscle spasm in his back which is giving him pain.”

In describing the location of the pain, the doctor testified (R. 89):

“Q. I believe I asked you, Doctor, but you ascribed this pain to a region lower than the region of this arthritis, did you not?

A. That is where his muscle spasm is, is one vertebra lower, and on the lower portion of it.

Q. Yes. It is not in the vertebra where the arthritic condition exists?

A. Not when you palpate him and manipulate him, that isn't where he complains of it."

He further testified (R. 92, 93):

"Q. And, of course, there is nothing in that examination of the lower part of the back, the muscle of that back, that would necessarily have caused this man any pain, is there?

A. Yes. Yes, I am afraid there is. Whenever we find muscle spasm, which we do find in his lower back, it is evidence that they are trying to guard something, voluntarily or involuntarily, and that is usually accepted as evidence of a painful condition in that region."

The doctor stated that plaintiff's pain was in the region of the lumbosacral joint, i.e., the fifth lumbar and first sacrum. He testified (R. 94):

"Q. You didn't find any evidence of any injury to the muscle, or to the tissue, either, did you?

A. Yes, I did."

On recross-examination the doctor stated (R. 94, 95):

"Q. Do you feel that that muscle spasm indicated any pain that would prevent him from working, carrying on his duties as a brakeman?

A. Had this been a private case of mine, I would have recommended conservative treatment with some physiotherapy. In other words, not having worked for maybe a matter of another two or three months, during which time he would have had that treatment; and I personally think that would have been almost sufficient to help him a lot so that he could have worked. But he hasn't had any of that treatment, from the story he gives me, from October, anyway.

Q. Are you trying to answer my question, Dr. White?

A. May I hear it again, please.

MR. BAGLEY: Will you read it to him?

(Reporter read last question.)

A. I would have to say yes."

As already indicated in the statement of facts plaintiff testified that he has suffered with a dull ache in his back ever since the injury and that in the discharge of his duties as a brakeman he was required to stoop and to climb on and off cars and that this caused pain in his back which became more severe the longer he worked. He testified that he would have been unable to perform the duties of a brakeman had he not had the help of the men on the crew.

We submit that the foregoing testimony clearly establishes that both the plaintiff and defendant were mistaken when they concluded that plaintiff was all right and was ready to return to work at the time the release was signed and executed.

Defendant, for the first time in all of these proceedings, contends on appeal that it was incumbent upon plaintiff to tender defendant the \$135.00 before he could attack the validity of the release. At the close of the case the defendant made a motion for a directed verdict, basing that motion upon seven grounds. Each one of the grounds related to the release. In no place did the defendant in that motion mention the subject of tender, its necessity or the fact that plaintiff had failed to make a tender of the \$135.00. Plaintiff's view on the law of the avoidance of a release was given by the Court in its Instruction No. 6. No statement or requirement was therein set forth that plaintiff was under the necessity of making a tender of the money paid to him pursuant to the terms of the release. Defendant asserted the validity of the release in its Answer and attempted to uphold its validity at every stage of these proceedings. We cannot help but wonder at defendant's good faith in now stating a tender should have been made. For what purpose? Merely for the purpose of permitting the defendant to refuse that tender? This Court certainly will not at this late date in these proceedings say that the verdict of the jury must be reversed so that plaintiff may perform the useless task of tendering to defendant the sum of \$135.00, which will certainly be rejected by the defendant. This is merely a technicality grabbed at by the defendant to save itself from the effects of a lost cause.

The courts have had something to say on this matter of tender and we believe that the cases clearly establish

that defendant's position is absolutely untenable. The courts have held that a defendant by its conduct in asserting the right to hold plaintiff to his purported bargain clearly shows an attitude that a tender would be useless. The law does not require the doing of a useless act. *Merrill v. Pike*, 94 Minn. 186, 102 N. W. 393; *Girard v. St. Louis Car Wheel Co.*, 123 Mo. 358, 27 S. W. 648, 25 L.R.A. 514, 45 Am. St. Rep. 556; *St. Louis & S. F. R. Co. v. Richards*, 23 Okla. 256, 102 P. 92, 23 L.R.A., N.S., 1032; *Woods v. Wikstrom*, 67 Ore. 581, 135 P. 192; *Franklin v. Webber*, 93 Ore. 151, 182 P. 819.

In *Girard v. St. Louis Car Wheel Co.*, supra, the court labeled a contention similar to the one made by defendant here as a "sheer technicality."

In *St. Louis & S. F. R. Co. v. Richards*, supra, the court branded the requirement of a tender under facts similar to those in the case at bar as an "empty, vain ceremony."

In *Franklin v. Webber*, supra, where the jury had determined the issue of fraud in the procurement of the release in favor of plaintiff, the court held that it would be a profitless proceeding to return the case for a new trial in order that defendant might have an opportunity of refusing a tender of the consideration paid for the release.

In *Woods v. Wikstrom*, supra, the court stated (pp. 199-200 of 135 P.):

"It is certain from the pleadings and the evidence in this case that if the plaintiff had ten-

dered to the defendant the \$30, either before or after he begun this action, the defendant would have refused to accept it. He obtained said release to be used as a defense to any action that the plaintiff might bring for damages, and he pleaded it as a separate defense, and relied on it as a defense throughout the trial in the court below. If the plaintiff had actually offered him said sum as a tender, and he had accepted it as such, said offer and the acceptance thereof would have operated as a rescission of said release, and he could not then have relied on the release as a defense. To tender him the \$30, therefore, would have been a vain thing, as manifestly, the offer would have been rejected.”

The courts have also held that a failure to raise the lack of tender in the trial court precludes the overthrow of the verdict in the appellate court. *Robertson v. Fuller Constr. Co.*, 115 Mo. App. 456, 92 S. W. 130; *Mandeville v. Jacobson*, 122 Conn. 429, 189 Atl. 596.

The Court in the latter case stated:

“* * * It is unnecessary to determine in the instant case whether an allegation of tender was required and the effect of the absence of such an allegation. As we have pointed out, the pleadings did not raise any such question and, as far as appears, no such point was raised at the trial and there were no requests to charge made of the court. ‘If a reply of fraud is made to a plea of release, and no objection is at any time, by pleading or otherwise, made to the sufficiency of the plaintiff’s case for failure to tender or return the fruits of such release, and the defendant insists on its validity as a defense, he thereby waives

the necessity for a tender, especially when the fruits of a release are restored to him by the judgment and there is no prejudicial error in the omission to allege or prove an offer to return those benefits, even if such offer were otherwise necessary to avoid the release.' 23 RCL 415; *Girard v. St. Louis Car Wheel Co.* (1894) 123 Mo. 358, 27 S.W. 648, 25 LRA 514, 517, 45 Am. St. Rep. 556 (supra). The charge as given was adapted to the issues raised by the pleadings and sufficient for the guidance of the jury, and the trial court was not bound to instruct the jury as to a possible defense which was not raised by the pleadings or otherwise claimed at the trial."

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